IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 91-2408

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
ver sus
Cl NDY GABBARD ADAMS, a/k/a Ci ndy Sanchez,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas

( May 8, 1992)

Before KING JOHNSON and DAVIS, G rcuit Judges.
PER CURI AM

After a guilty plea, the district court convicted defendant
C ndy Gabbard Adans of msprision of a felony in violation of 18
US C 8 4 and sentenced the defendant to a termof inprisonnent.
On appeal, Adans conplains that the record contains an i nadequate
factual basis for her guilty plea. Al t hough we agree that the
district court did not establish a factual basis for Adans's plea
in full conpliance with Rule 11(f), we find this failure to be
harm ess error. Accordingly, we affirm

l. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HI STORY

During the 1970s, Ranon Dionicio Martinez, al so known as "Jose
Luis Sanchez" and "EI Lechero," formed an illegal narcotics

distribution ring in the Rio Gande Valley. Martinez and his



fellow conspirators inported huge quantities of marijuana from
Mexi co and distributed the marijuana to dealers across the United
States. Fromthe sale of these illegal drugs, Martinez derived a
| arge incone. He invested nuch of this incone in real estate

frequently using sham or fraudul ent transactions to conceal his
i nvol venent. I n Decenber 1986 Martinez purchased a residence in
Edi nburg, Texas, with proceeds derived fromthe sale of illegal

narcotics. Eventually, he transferred the title in the house to
his girlfriend, the defendant C ndy Gabbard Adans.

On May 30, 1990, the CGovernnent nanmed Martinez and thirty
ot her defendants in a ninety-one count indictnment charging them
wWth participation in an illegal narcotics distribution and
racketeering enterprise. Al t hough Adans had not been directly
involved in the distribution ring, she was nanmed in six counts of
the indictnent. Adans naintained a plea of "not guilty" to these
charges unti| Decenber 4, 1990. On that date, the Governnent filed
a superseding information charging Adans wth one count of
m sprision of afelony.! Specifically, the Governnent all eged t hat
Adans knew that Martinez had used | aundered noney to purchase the
Edi nburg residence and had failed to report this illegal purchase

to the authorities. |In exchange for the Governnent's promse to

See 18 U.S.C. §8 4 (1988), which provides:

Whoever, havi ng knowl edge of the actual conm ssion of a fel ony
cogni zabl e by a court of the United States, conceals and does
not as soon as possi ble make known the sanme to sone judge or
other person in civil or mlitary authority under the United
States, shall be fined not nore than $500 or inprisoned not
nmore than three years, or both
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di sm ss the indictnent agai nst her, Adans agreed to relinquish her
interest in the Edinburg house and to enter a guilty plea to the
charge in the superseding information

At her rearraignnent, the district court reviewed the terns of
the superseding information with Adans, who related that she
understood the terns of the charge. Adans entered a plea of guilty
to the msprision charge alleged in the superseding information,
and the district court accepted the plea. On April 9, 1991, after
the court received the recommendation of the probation office in
its presentence report, the court sentenced Adans to three years in
prison, but ordered her to serve only the first six nonths of the
sentence, the remai nder suspended for five years.? Adans filed a
tinmely notice of appeal.

1. DI SCUSSI ON

Aguilty pleais insufficient initself to support a crim nal
conviction. Wen a defendant enters a guilty plea, Federal Rul e of
Crimnal Procedure 11(f) requires "a factual basis for the plea.”
Fed. R Crim P. 11(f). The sentencing court nust satisfy itself,
t hrough an inquiry of the defendant or exam nation of the rel evant
materials in the record, that an adequate factual basis exists for

the el ements of the offense. United States v. ©Montoya- Canacho,

644 F.2d 480, 485 (5th Cr. 1981). The factual basis cannot be
inplied fromthe fact that the defendant entered a plea, but nust

appear on the face of the record and "nust be precise enough and

2Because the charged offense was alleged to have occurred
before the effective date of the federal sentencing guidelines,
the guidelines did not apply.



sufficiently specific" to denonstrate that the accused conmmtted

the charged crimnal offense. United States v. Johnson, 546 F.2d

1225, 1226 (5th Gr. 1977).
The record nust reveal specific factual all egations supporting

each el ement of the offense. United States v. Fountain, 777 F.2d

351, 356 (7th Gir. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1029 (1986). To

support a conviction for msprision of a felony, therefore, the
record nust reveal specific factual allegations regarding the
followng three elenents: (1) the defendant had know edge that a
felony was commtted; (2) the defendant failed to notify
authorities of the felony; and (3) the defendant took an
affirmative step to conceal the felony. 18 U S.C. §8 4 (1988). See
United States v. Davila, 698 F.2d 715, 717 (5th Cr. 1983).

A. Fact ual Basi s.

Adans contends that there are no facts in the record
establishing the third elenent of her alleged offense--an
affirmative act of conceal nent. The msprision statute is directed
against an individual who "conceals and does not as soon as
possi bl e make known...." 18 U S.C. 8 4 (1988) (enphasis added).
Thus, under the msprision statute, the defendant nust commt an

affirmative act to prevent discovery of the earlier felony.

"[Mere failure to make known does not suffice." United States v.

Warters, 885 F.2d 1266, 1275 (5th Cr. 1989). See also Johnson

546 F.2d at 1227.
The acceptance of a quilty plea is deened a factual finding
that there is an adequate factual basis for the plea. Davila, 698

F.2d at 717. W review this finding under the clearly erroneous
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standard. 1d. To determ ne whether the district court erred in
concluding that there was an adequate factual basis for the plea,
we nust exam ne two parts of the record: the information and the
pl ea hearing.?

The Information. Defendant Adans wai ved grand jury i ndi ct nent

and entered a quilty plea to an information charging her wth
msprision of a felony. In its entirety, the superseding
i nformati on states:
The United States Attorney Charges:
That starting in Decenber of 1986 to about
February of 1987 in the Southern District of Texas and
el sewhere and in the jurisdiction of this court

Cl NDY GABBARD ADAMS

havi ng knowl edge of the comm ssion of a felony by Ranon

Dionicio Martinez, to wt: a violation of the noney
| aundering statute, 18 USC 1956 (the Peter Street house
purchase), did know ngly and unlawfully conceal and cover

up the sanme and did not as soon as possible report the sane
to a judge or other person in civil or mlitary authority
under the United States.
Record Vol. |, at 438. The Governnent suggests that this
superseding information is adequate to provide a factual basis for
the guilty plea.
I f sufficiently specific, an indictnent or information can be

used as the sole source of the factual basis for a guilty plea.

United States v. Bachynsky, 949 F.2d 722, 730 (5th Cr. 1991);

3ln sone cases it mght also be permissible for the district
court to turn to the Presentence Report to establish an adequate
factual basis, as long as the court indicates on the record that it
relies upon the Presentence Report. See United States v. G aves,
720 F. 2d 821, 824 (5th Cr. 1983). The district court in this case
did not indicate on the record that it relied upon the Presentence
Report. See Section B




United States v. Boatright, 588 F.2d 471, 475 (5th Cr. 1979). The

superseding information in this case, however, is not sufficiently
specific. Wile it states that Adans conceal ed Ranon Martinez's
vi ol ati on of the noney | aundering statute, the information fails to
allege any facts which would indicate that Adans took an

affirmative step to conceal the crine. Cf. Boatright, 588 F.2d at

475 (concluding that an indictnment is not adequate to serve as the
factual basis for a plea of guilty to a conspiracy charge when the
indictnment "fails to allege any facts tying [the defendant] to the
conspiracy.").

The Plea Hearing. At rearraignnent, the district court

engaged in the follow ng coll oquy:

ATTORNEY FOR THE GOVERNMENT: Your Honor, as to C ndy
Gabbard Adans, she was the mstress or girlfriend of |arge
scale drug dealer Ranon Martinez over a period of severa
years. As M. Martinez generated huge suns of noney fromhis
drug dealing, he invested sone of this noney in assets that he
pl aced i n nanmes other than his own, and for purposes of this
factual allocution, inreal estate. M. Mrtinez was i nvol ved
in getting noney fromdrug dealing, buying assets and putting
those assets in nanes other than his own to hide his own
ownership, control, participation of the assets. In
particular, in the Peter Street address or the Peter Street
asset which is one of the assets we're seeking forfeiture of
in the indictnment.

He, Ranon Martinez, and Ms. Adans attended a real estate
auction, a private auction, in Decenber of 1986, and at that
auction Ranon Martinez paid down a down paynent of about 10
percent of the purchase of the Peter Street house, tota
purchase price of the house was approxi mately $40,000 and
around $4,000 paid down. Thereafter, in approxinmtely
February of 1987, a check fromthe Robert Salinas law firm
funded by Ranobn Martinez, was used to pay off the bal ance of
t hat property. That property in February of '87 was then
deeded to Ranon Martinez' brother's nanme, Juan Martinez, and
that is the noney | aundering violation that is nmade out by Ms.
Adans' msprison [sic] of that felony.

Further down the line, this property gets transferred to
Ms. Adans. In fact, | believe title to date rests in her
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name, but the crine here is not that which it occurred at a
| ater date, but rather the initial purchase by Ranon Martinez
with drug noney putting it into soneone else's nane to hide
his own ownership of it.

THE COURT: All right. M. Adans, you've just heard what
M. Lews has explained to ne. Is all of that true?

Cl NDY ADAMS:  Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And you were aware of it?

Cl NDY ADAMS:  Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You were aware of all these facts?
Cl NDY ADAMS:  Yes, sir.

ATTORNEY FOR THE GOVERNMENT: And in fact concealed it
and did not nmake it known to anybody.

THE COURT: And you did not, of course, report it to the
authorities?

Cl NDY ADAMS:  No, sir.

THE COURT: Al right. 1'mgoing to accept your plea of
guilty. | find that you are gqguilty as set out in the
information....

Record Vol. 1V, at 54-56. The Governnment suggests that this
col l oquy provides an adequate factual basis for the guilty plea.
According to the Governnent, the plea hearing denonstrates
that Adans concealed the illegal purchase of the Edi nburg house
and, therefore, provides a factual basis for the third el enent of
the msprision offense. W are not persuaded. The transcript of
the plea hearing does not indicate that Adans admtted an
affirmati ve act of conceal nent. Rather, it indicates that the
prosecutor interjected his position that Adans had conceal ed
Martinez's noney |laundering violation. The district court did not

ask Adans whet her she agreed with this interjection. Even assum ng

that she did agree with the prosecutor, the interjection is
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insufficient as a matter of lawto constitute a factual all egation

of affirmative conceal nent. See Fountain, 777 F.2d at 356. Thus,

the record of the plea hearing also does not provide a factua
basis for the plea.

We conclude that the information available to the court when
it accepted the plea (outlined above from the record) was
i nadequate as a matter of law to "satisfy it that there [was] a
factual basis for the plea," as required by 11(f). We nust
t heref ore determ ne whet her the court conmtted reversible error in
accepting her plea.

B. Harnl ess Error.

W review a district court's failure to conply with Rule 11
for harm ess error under Rule 11(h). The inquiry is whether any
variance from the procedures required by Rule 11 affects the

substantial rights of the defendant. United States v. Bernal, 861

F.2d 434, 436 (5th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 493 U S. 872 (1989);

United States v. Corbett, 742 F.2d 173, 178 & n.14 (5th Gr.

1984).% This circuit has identified three "core concerns" under
Rule 11: (1) whether the guilty plea was coerced; (2) whether the
def endant understands the nature of the charges; and (3) whether
t he def endant under st ands t he consequences of the plea. See United

States v. Shacklett, 921 F.2d 580, 582 (5th G r. 1991); Bernal, 861

F.2d at 436. Wen a district court conpletely fails to address one

of these concerns, the defendant's substantial rights have been

4 Rul e 11(h), adopted in 1983, reads: "Any variance fromthe
procedures required by this rule which does not affect substanti al
rights shall be disregarded."” See also Corbett, 742 F.2d at 178 n.
14.




affected and Rule 11 requires automatic reversal. Bernal, 861 F. 2d
at 436; Corbett, 742 F.2d at 178. |If the core concerns are net,
however, an "inadequate address" or less than "letter-perfect”
conpliance with Rule 11° may be excused under a harnless error

st andar d. Bernal, 861 F.2d at 436; see also United States v.

Dayton, 604 F.2d 931, 939-40 (5th Gr. 1979) (en banc), cert.
deni ed, 445 U.S. 904 (1980).

We recogni ze, of course, that the three core concerns are not
the sole "substantial rights" that Rule 11 protects. As this court
observed in Shacklett, the nere fact that a Rule 11 violation fails
to inplicate one of the core concerns does not in itself nean that
the violation is harnless. 921 F.2d at 582. Even then the
gquestion remains whether the violation affects the substanti al

rights of the defendant, id.; see also Dayton, 604 F.2d at 940

(violations of technical requirenents of Rule 11 are subject to
harm ess error analysis, but are not always harm ess), and the
appellate court nust conduct an independent exam nation of the
effect of the error on the rights of the accused. Shacklett, 921
F.2d at 582.

Many of the cases anal yzing a defendant's Rule 11 chal |l enges

to the acceptance of a quilty plea do not distinguish the

> For exanple, in United States v. Tuangnmaneeratnmun, 925 F. 2d
797, 804 (5th Gr. 1991), the district court failed to explain
adequately the effect of a term of supervised release prior to
accepting a defendant's guilty plea. Al though this constituted an
"I nadequat e address" of a core concern, we held that it anounted to
harm ess error because the defendant did not denonstrate that the
court's failure affected his substantial rights or otherw se
prejudiced him 1d.




requirenents of 11(c)(1) from those of 11(f).° This 1is
under st andabl e because the two sections address rel ated concerns.
Section (c) is the textual basis for the second core concern and
requires the court to

addr ess t he defendant personally in open court and i nform
hi mof, and determ ne that he understands, the foll ow ng:

1) the nature of the charge to which the plea is
ffered.

(

0
Fed. R Cim P. 11(c). This section requires a court to
participate personally in a conversation with the defendant to
determne if he understands the nature of the charges agai nst him
Shacklett, 921 F.2d at 582. Oten in the course of this
guestioning, a discussion of the defendant's conduct w |l occur
The court may then rely upon this colloquy to satisfy itself that
a sufficient factual basis exists for accepting the guilty plea.

Section (f), on the other hand, does not specifically require

any on-the-record colloquy. It requires that the court

subjectively satisfy itself of an adequate factual basis. See

United States v. Antone, 753 F.2d 1301, 1305 (5th Cr.) (prosecutor

must present evidence to the subjective satisfaction of the
district court which indicates that the defendant actually

committed the offense to which he is pleading guilty), cert.

6 Many of the decisions which do not distinguish between the
requi renents of these two sections of Rule 11 were witten prior to
the adoption of 11(h). Before that section clarified the
applicability of the harnmess error standard to certain Rule 11
vi ol ati ons, there was |less reason to be concerned wth
di stinguishing between a district court's violation of a core
concern and other Rule 11 violations. See, e.qg., United States v.
Boatright, 588 F.2d 471 (5th Cr. 1979); United States v. Johnson,
546 F.2d 1225 (5th Gr. 1977).
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deni ed, 474 U. S. 818 (1985); see also Bachynsky, 949 F.2d at 730

(relying on Antone); United States v. Quichard, 779 F.2d 1139, 1146

(5th Gr. 1985) (sane), cert. denied, 475 U S 1127 (1986). W

observe that courts, |looking to the on-the-record colloquy used to
satisfy both Rule 11(c)(1) and Rule 11(f), have produced | anguage
in several cases which seemngly comm ngles the requirenents of
t hese two sections.’

Nonet hel ess, section (f) (factual basis) and section (c)(1)
(understandi ng the nature of the charges) are di stinct requirenents
of Rule 11. Their simlarity does not elevate Rule 11(f) to core
concern status, and accordi ngly, nonconpliance with Rule 11(f) does
not automatically affect a defendant's substantial rights. 1In the
i nstant case, after careful review of Adans' argunents, we note
that Adans never contends that the court failed to explain the
nature of the charges as required by Rule 11(c)(1). Likew se, she
makes no argunent that the court's failure to establish a factual
basis in violation of Rule 11(f) sonmehow confused or m sl ed her as
to the nature of the charges against her, thereby inplying a
violation of Rule 11(c)(1). Because the court's failure to conply

wth Rule 11(f) is not a core concern, and is not suggested by

” See, e.q., Shacklett, which states:

The district court nust therefore personally participate
in the colloquy mandated by Rule 11 in order to assure
itself that the defendant understands what he is
adm tting and t he consequences of his adm ssi ons and t hat
his adm ssions constitute the crinme charged.

921 F.2d at 582 (enphasis added).
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Adans to have sonehow rai sed a core concern, we apply the harnl ess
error standard of Rule 11(h) in reviewing that failure.

The plea hearing record clearly established the first two
elenments of the msprision offense, know edge of a felony and
failure to notify authorities of the felony. Adans stated on the
record that she was aware of and knew to be true the follow ng
facts stated by the Assistant United States Attorney: t hat
Martinez bought assets to conceal his drug proceeds, that the house
in which she |lived was such an asset, and that she did not nmake
this informati on known to the authorities. Only the third el enent,
affirmati ve conceal nent, is at issue.

Al t hough the district court failed to discuss with Adans any
specifics with regard to this third elenent at the tine of her plea
hearing, we find that other sources of factual information provide
us wi th an adequate factual basis of Adans' affirmative conceal nent
to support her plea. According to Adans' own statenents in the
Present ence Report,

Shortly after that | was with himat an auction when he

bought the house on Peters Street in Edinburg. At that

time | believe the house was bought in the name of his

br ot her, Juan.

At sone later date we noved into the house on Peters

Street wwth Ranon. Eventually the house was transferred

into ny nane. Ranon had the paper work prepared at the

| aw of fi ces of Pena, McDonal d i n Edi nburg, and afterwards

| woul d nmake paynents to Juan, or Ranon woul d nmake the

paynments for ne. The paynents were always in cash
The plea hearing record establishes that the house was paid off in

February 1987 with a check funded by Martinez and issued by the

Robert Salinas law firm At that tine, title to the house was
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vested in Juan Martinez. Title was later transferred to Adans. W
can infer fromthis that Adans nade her paynents before the house
was "paid off" and while title was vested in Juan. On this record,
therefore, the evidence establishes that Adans nade cash paynents
to Juan Martinez to "purchase" an asset which she knew had been
purchased by Ranon Martinez in the nane of his brother. She also
knew that the house was purchased by Ranon Martinez with drug
proceeds and was being used to conceal those proceeds. The
paynents nmade by Adans constitute an affirmative acts of
conceal nent of the felony underlying the m sprision offense.

We take care to point out that the district court could not
rely on the information within the Presentence Report as a source
of the factual basis for Adans' plea. As this court nade clear in

United States v. Graves, 720 F.2d 821, 824 (5th Cr. 1983), "when

a presentence report is relied upon as a source of the factua
basis to establish the crinme, this circunstance nust appear on the
record, and, where necessary to establish the factual basis, the
presentence report nust be part of the record on appeal." See also

Sassoon v. United States, 561 F.2d 1154, 1159 (5th Gr. 1977)

("[T] he factual basis, whatever its source, nust appear clearly on
the record."). Here, the district court nowhere stated on the
record that it was relying on the Presentence Report as the source
of the factual basis of Adans' plea. The Presentence Report could
not have served, therefore, as a proper factual basis of the
el ement of conceal nment.

We, on the other hand, despite the district court's violation

of Rule 11(f), may consider the information in Adans' Presentence
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Report in conducting our harm ess error analysis. |In so doing, we
find that Adans did, in fact, take affirmative steps to concea

Ranmon's unlawful activities. Accordingly, we conclude, upon
exam nation of the entire record in this case, that the failure of
the district court to establish adequately that a factual basis
existed for Adans' plea did not affect her substantial rights

because the record as a whole reveals that her actions satisfied
the elenents of msprision of a felony in violation of 18 U.S.C. §

4.8 The violation of Rule 11(f) was therefore harnl ess error.

8 In this regard, the instant case is distinguishable from
United States v. Goldberq, 862 F.2d 101 (6th Cr. 1988). In
&ol dberg, the Sixth Grcuit found that the district court's failure
to satisfy itself of a factual basis for the defendant's plea to
m sprision of a felony was not harm ess error. |1d. at 106. I n
that case, Goldberg, the defendant doctor, was charged wth
affirmatively conceal i ng a pharmaci st's crinme of addi ng nedi cati ons
to Gol dberg' s prescriptions in order to defraud Medi caid. The plea
colloquy failed to elicit any acts taken by CGol dberg to conceal the
pharmaci st's offense. Based upon the information taken fromthe
colloquy, the Sixth Crcuit noted as foll ows:

In continuing to wite the prescriptions, Dr. Gol dberg
did nothing nore than provide the opportunity for the
pharmacist to continue with their [sic] fraudulent
conduct, but Dr. Goldberg did not engage in active
conceal ment fromthe authorities of the fact that after
the prescription was witten the pharnmaci st added to the
prescriptions. The statenent elicited fromDr. Col dberg
is insufficient to establish anything nore than Dr.
Gol dberg's failure to report on-going crimnal conduct.

ld. at 105. The Sixth Grcuit recognized that a district court may
| ook to many sources to determ ne the existence of a factual basis

of the plea, and is not limted to the colloquy. Id. In that
case, however, the district court made no i nquiry of the Governnent
for supplenental findings, nor did the governnent offer any. |d.
The ol dberg court therefore limted its review to the record of
the plea proceeding. 1d. Based upon its finding that the plea

proceeding provided no factual basis for the elenent of
conceal nent, the Sixth Crcuit found a violation of Rule 11(f), and
held it not to be harmess error. 1d. at 106 ("[While the exact
met hod of producing a factual basis on the record is subject to a
fl exi ble standard of review, the need to have sone factual basis

14



AFFI RVED

JOHNSQN, G rcuit Judge, concurring:

| concur in the panel opinion with the understandi ng that the
harm ess error rationale in Rule 11(h) is not a convenient excuse
for the district courts to abrogate their responsibility to
ascertain that an adequate factual basis exists for the el enents of
the offense. The instant case is unusual: while the Presentence
Report provides a factual basis for the plea, it cannot be relied
upon as the source of the factual basis. In nost cases the
circunstances will not be so unusual. The purpose of the factual
basis requirenment in Rule 11(f) is to protect a defendant "who may
plead with an understanding of the nature of the charge, but
"wi thout realizing that [her] conduct does not actually fall within

the definition of the crinme charged.'"™ United States v. Oberski

734 F.2d 1030, 1031 (5th Cr. 1984) (quoting United States V.

Johnson, 546 F.2d 1225, 1226-27 (5th Cr. 1977)). If nothing in
the record indicates that the defendant realized her conduct fel

wthin the definition of the charged offense, then the absence of

W ll continue to be a rule subject to no exceptions.") (citations
omtted).

Unli ke Gol dberg, where there was apparently no information
presented to the Sixth Crcuit concerning the defendant doctor's
actions but for that offered at the plea proceeding, there was
information available in the instant case that clearly indicates
that Adans took affirmative steps to conceal Martinez' crine.
&ol dberg directly raises the issue whether a district court's
failure to establish a factual basis at the plea hearing, in the
absence of other information sources otherw se available to the
court that would support the plea, constitutes harnml ess error.
That question is not presented by the case at bar, and we need not
address it at this tine.
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an adequate factual basis cannot be harnless error. See United

States v. ol dberqg, 862 F.2d 101, 106 (6th Cr. 1988).
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